
IN 1'1": U/I.' ITED STATES I) ISTRICT COURT 
FOR TIlE NORTHERN DlSTRICf OF 01110 

EASTERt'i DIVISION 

EQUAL Ei\IPLOYMENTOPPORTU~ITY 
CO:'tIi\ IISSION, 

I'laintiff, 

", 
SPITZER MANAGDIEf\;', I1\C. and 
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CIVIL ACfION NO: 
1,06CV02337 

JUDGE ANN ALDRICH 

A.\ IENDEO CO:>O IPLAIl\. 
A .... 'O J URY DEMAND 

NATURE OF TIl E ACTION 

This is IlII action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended. (42 U.s.C. 

§2000e, et seq), ("Title VJI") and Ti tle I ofthc Civil RighlS Act of 1991, to correct unlawful 

employment practices on the basis of national origin and to pro\'ide appropriate relief to Dean O. 

Okafor. David 1. Marek and similarl) situated individuals "00 were adversely affected by such 

practices. As aniculated with greater panicularity in Paragraph S below, the Commission alleges 

that the Spitzer Management. Inc. and Spitzer Motor City, Inc. ('"Defendants"') di5Criminated 

against Mr. Okafor and Mr. Marek and similarly situated employccs by subjecting them to 

harassment and a hostile work environment on the basis of their national origin and ethnicity. 

Defendant also discriminated against Mr. Marek and other simillltly situated employees by 

constructively discltarging them on the basis of national origin and etMcity. As a result of these 

discriminatory practices Mr. Okafor. Mr. r.'on:k and other similarly situated employccs have 

suffered damages includ ing backpay losses and compensatory damages, 



.JURl smCfION AN D VENUE 

I. Jurisdiction of this Coun is in,-oked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 451. 1331. 1337, 

1343 and 1345. This action is authorizcd and instituted pursuant to Section 706(f) (I) and (3) of 

Tille VI! of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. as amended, 42 U.S.c. §2000e-5(f)(1) and (3) ("Title 

VIr"). and pursuant to Seetion 102 of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. § 1981a. 

2. The employment practices alleged to be unla"-ful were commiued with in the 

jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern 

Division. 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff.lIIe Equal Emplo)ruent Opportunity Commission (the "Commission"), 

is an Agency of the United States of America charged "-lth the adminislr3tion. interpretation and 

enforcement of Title VII and is e)(pressly authorized to bnng this action by Section 706{f) (I) 

and (3) of Title VII. 42 U.S.c. § 2000e·5(f)( 1) and (3). 

4. At all relevant times. Defendant Spitzer Management, Inc. has continuously been 

an Ohio corporation doing business in the State of Ohio. County of lA>rain and City of Elyria. 

and has continuously had 31 least 15 employees. 

5. At all relevant times. Defendant Spitzer Motor City, Inc_. has continuously been 

an Ohio corporation doing business in the State of Ohio, County of Cuyahoga and City of 

Cleveland, and has continuously had at least 15 employees. 

6. At all rele"ant times Defendant Employers. described in paragraphs 4 and 5 

above. have continuously been engaged in an industry affeeting commerce "ithin the meaning of 

Swion 701 (b). (g) and (h) ofTitle Vll. 42 U.S.c. § 2000e (b). (g) and (h). 



ST A TEMEl'iT OF CLA IMS 

7. More than thirty days prior to the institution of this lawsuit. Dean O. Okafor and 

David J. Marek each filcd a charge with the Commission alleging violations of Title VII by 

Defendant Spitzer Motor City, Inc. All conditions precedent to the institution of this lawsuit have 

been fulfilled. 

8. Since at least December of 2005, Defendant Employers have engaged in unla",ful 

employmem practices at the facility located at l3001 Brookpark Road, Cleveland. Ohio in 

violation of Section 703(a)(l ) of Title VII, 42 U.S.c. §2000c-2 (a)(I). The alleged unlawful 

practices include, but are not limited to: 

(a) Harassing and subjecting Mr. Okafor, a Sales Consultant. to a hostile work 
environment because of his national origin. Nigerian/African ethnicity by 
referring to him as "Nairobi Man" by making fun of his accent; by stating 
he "only eats what he kills."' and by directing demeaning comments at Mr. 
Okafor which were announced over the facility intercom making those 
comments audible to customers and employees: 

(b) Harassing and subjecting Mr. Marek. an Auto Detailcr. to a hostile work 
environment because of his national origin, Korean by refemng to him as 
"Wax On Wax Off'; 

(c) Subjecting other employees at the BOOI Brookpark Road facility to 
national origin-based harassment and a hostile work environment: 

(d) By conSU1Jctivel y discharging on the basis of national origin/ethnicity. Mr. 
Marek and other employees at the 13001 Brookpark Road facility; 

(e) The harassment. hostile work environment and Title VII violations alleged 
herein above were carried out by andlor were the direct result of actions by 
management officials al Ocfendant's1300IBrookpark Road facility; 

( I) Defendant Employers failed to take appropriale corrective action even 
though they received complaints about the harassment and hostile work 
environment. 

) 



9. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraph 8(a)-(1) above has been to 

deprive Dean O. Okafor. David J. Marek and similarly situated employees of equal employment 

opportunities and otherwise adversely affect their status as employees due to impermissible 

consideration of their respective national origins. in violation of Title VII. 

10. The unlav.ful practices complained of above were intentional. 

II. The unlawful employment practiccs complained of above were undenaken wilh 

malice and/or reckless indiffeTl:nce to the federally protected rights of Dean O. Okafor. David 1-

Marek and a class ofaggrieved individuals. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE. the Commission respectfully requests that this Coun: 

A. Grant a permanent injunction enjoining each Defendant, its officers. successors, 

assigns and all persoIl5 in active concen or participation with it. from discriminating against 

individuals by the implementation of practices and policies which discriminate on the basis of 

nationalorigin/ethnicity. 

B. Order Defendant Employers to institute and carry out policies. practices and 

programs which provide equal emplo>'ment opportunities for all employees v.ithout regard to 

their national origin/ethnicity and whiCh eradicate the effects of its past and present unlawful 

employment practices. 

C. Order Defendant Emplo>ers to institute and carry out a complaint procedure which 

encourages employees to come forward v.ith complaints Tl:garding violations of Title VII and/or 

of Defendants' policies against discrimination. harassment and a hostile work environment. 
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D. Order Defendant Emplo~ers to institute and carr)' out a training program which 

shall promote supervisor acoounlabilit} imposing on all managers and supervisory personnel a 

duty to actively monitor their work areas to cnsun' compliance with Title VII and/or Defendants' 

policies on non·discrimination and requiring all managers and supervisors to report any incidents 

andlor complaints of harassment or ethnic intimidation of which they become aware to the person 

or department charged with handling such complaints. 

E. Order Defendant Employers to make whole Dean O. Okafor, David 1. Marek and 

an~ aggrie\'ed indh'iduals by prm'iding appropriate monetary relief including backpay and front 

pay v.;th prejudgment interest. in amounts to be dctcnnined at trial, and other affirmative relief 

necessary 10 eradicate the effects of its unla"ful employment praclices. 

F. Order Defendant Employers 10 make whole Dean O. Okafor. David J. Marek and 

any aggrieved individuals. by providing compensation for past and future pecuniary losses 

resulting from the unlawful employment practices described in Paragraph 7 abole. including but 

IlOllimitoo 10 OUI ofpockct losses. 

G. Order Defendant Employers 10 mue whole Dean O. Okafor. Dal'id J. Marek and 

any aggrieved individuals by pro\'iding compensalion for non· pecuniary 10UC$ resulting from the 

unlal\ ful prnctices complained of in Parngrnph 7 above. including emotional pain, suffering, loss 

of enjoyment oflife and humi liation. in amounts to be proven atlTi.!. 

11. Order Defendanl Employers 10 pay Dean O. Okafor. David J. Marek and any 

aggrieved individuals punith'e damages for illl malicious and red.:lcss conduct described in 

Paragraph 7. abole. in amounlll to be determined at trial. 

, 



I. Grant such further relief as the Coun deems necessary and proper in the public 

imcfCst. 

J. Award the Commission its costS in this aClion. 

J URY TRIAL DEMAND 

The Commission rcqUC51S a jury trial on all questions of fact raised by its complaint. 

6 

Respectfully submitted, 

RO~ALD S. COOPER 
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lAMESL LEE 
Deput} General Counsel 

GWENDOLYN YOUNG REAMS 
Associate General Counsel 
Washington, D.C. 
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